Questions and Answers under RFP-DHHS-ORDC-V&B-05-04

The following are questions received and the DHHS answers regarding the above referenced RFP.  Additional questions and answers may be posted at a later date.
1.  Under Section L, II. General Instructions, ITEM 17: Past Performance Information: It is stated that "a list of the last 3 contracts completed during the past 3 years and the last 3 contracts awarded currently in process that are similar in nature to the solicitation work scope" should be provided, rather than "all contracts currently in progress", as stated under Section M, 1. General, M.3.2. Past Performance Information section.  Regarding ongoing contracts which requirement is applicable?


Ans.  See Amendment 0002

2. Under Section C.1 Background/Statement of Work, Significance and Objectives, Paragraph 3:  What does "product-related equipment" encompass - e.g., bioreactors, centrifuges, biosafety equipment, cleaning and sterilization equipment, air handling, down stream processing equipment, etc.?  Please define "product-related equipment".


Ans.  Product-related equipment refers to those equipment items that are in contact with the cell- or recombinant-based influenza vaccine product during bulk manufacturing primarily. Examples may include biosafety cabinets, isolators, bioreactors, wave cell culture systems, ultrafiltration systems, centrifuges, ultracentrifuges, chromatography systems, sonicators, bulk product storage tanks or bags, and diafiltration systems. If cleaning and sterilization equipment items are used for the bulk manufacturing of cell-  or recombinant-based influenza vaccine product only, then they may be included. Since fill-finish equipment is used for multiple products, then these equipment items are excluded. Equipment such air-handling systems and WFI water systems are not included as these are considered part of the manufacturing facility. 
3.  Under Section C.1 Background/Statement of Work, Significance and Objectives, Paragraph 3:  Does "validation" include IQ,OQ,PQ and process validation?


Ans.  Validation of facilities, systems, equipment, lot release product assays and manufacturing processes include all three quality validation phases (installational, operational, and performance) per 21 CFR guidelines for FDA licensure of biological products at the appropriate times in the product development cycle. 

4.  Under Section C.1 Background/Statement of Work, Significance and Objectives, Paragraph 4:  "Portions of the vaccine product development plan may be conducted outside of the U.S. except clinical studies, which will be used to support a BLA product submission".  Are ICH/GCP international clinical sites outside of the U.S. excluded from all phases of clinical development despite the potential that use of such sites may shorten the timeline to licensure?

Ans.  A clinical development plan may include foreign sites provided that pivotal clinical trials are conducted in the U.S. and are accepted by the FDA. All clinical sites should be included in new or existing INDs submitted to the FDA for cell- or recombinant-based influenza vaccine products.    See Amendment 0002
5.  May candidate vaccine from a non-U.S. site for use in clinical trials be employed in the development plan?


Ans.  Yes.  Pilot and consistency lots of candidate cell- or recombinant-based influenza vaccine products may be manufactured in a non-US country; however commercial scale lots for licensure must be manufactured in a US facility with comparability clinical study results as part of the BLA. 

6.  In section H.15 (Special Contract Requirements - Intellectual Property) page 17 of the RFP document:   Please elaborate on the requirements and timing for offerors to secure access to intellectual property.   
Ans.  See Amendment 0002 which removes paragraph H.15 and addresses intellectual property as part of the Technical Evaluation criteria.
7.  In section L (General Instruction, item 12; Alternate Proposals) page 48 of the RFP document:   Please provide advice on ideal format of a project encompassing the scope of more than one RFP.  Should a single technical description be used, with specific business sections submitted to the relevant RFPs?  
Ans.  Since the scope and goal of the three RFPs are significantly different, the RFPs are being issued separately, and separate technical and business proposals should be submitted for each targeted RFP. One proposal will not be accepted for all three RFPs. 


8.  In section L (General Instruction, item 23; Technical Proposal Instructions) pages 50-51 of the RFP document:  Please provide further guidance on the type of information you require in the summary section and appendices.  
Ans.  Item 23 does not refer to an “summary section,” however, the technical proposal is limited to 40 pages.  A technical proposal should describe the overall product development master plan for the cell- or recombinant-based pandemic influenza vaccine with major milestones and timelines as part of the overall vaccine strategic plan of a given company or consortium. The appendices should include detailed pre-clinical, clinical, manufacturing, or process development results or other company or personnel information that provide sufficient detail for technical evaluation to demonstrate the advantages and limitations of the product. Detailed timelines for product development activities should be provided in the appendices as both company- and USG-supported activities. 

9.  In section M1 (Mandatory Criteria for Eligibility) pages 52-53 of the RFP document:  Please clarify your expectations of the project deliverables.  Is it your expectation that offerors be in a position to submit a Biological License Application within the 3-5 year period covered by this RFP?   
Ans.  The timeframes associated with submission of the BLA and licensure will vary based upon the stage of development for each company’s vaccine product.  See Amendment 0002 for clarification of M.1. 
10.  What is the period included for cost recovery, such as for costs accumulated specific to a deliverable, before or after the contract dates?  

Ans.  All direct costs charged to this contract must occur during the contract period of performance. 
11.  What is the intention of HHS regarding the potential number and monetary value of contracts awarded?  

Ans.  In accordance with Block 7 of the cover page and RFP Section M, Evaluation Factors for Award, paragraph 1, General, DHHS may award one or multiple contracts under this solicitation.  In April, 2005, DHHS awarded CDC contract number 200-2005-11758 for $97 million to Sanofi Pasteur located in Swiftwater, PA for similar services.  Any contract(s) awarded under this RFP may or may not be for a similar dollar amount.

12.  Is there a dollar limit for capital reimbursement?


Ans. No. See answer to question #2 for capital equipment expenditures acceptable for USG funding. However, please note that this will be USG-owned equipment under the Government Property clause (FAR 52.245-5).
13.  Can additional funds be added after the contract begins based on the plans submitted for milestones 1-5? Detailed plan preparation during the first year of the contract may uncover additional costs that were not predicted during the proposal period.


Ans.  All offerors must submit their TOTAL proposed costs for the entire requirement at the time of proposal submission.  Any unforeseen or unanticipated costs 
are subject to the Limitation of Cost clause (FAR 52.232-30) and the Limitation of Funds clause (FAR 52.232-22) which limits the Government’s obligation to the funds provided.

Any increase in funds must be approved by the DHHS Contracting Officer. 

14.  Please clarify the differences between milestone #1 and #2, since they seem to be very similar in scope.  
Ans.  Milestone 1 is directed towards the entire product development plan, and Milestone 2 is more specific and in greater detail on the clinical studies and the incumbent clinical protocols integrated with the regulatory support plan.

15.  The discussion on page 6 indicates that the clinical trial plan shall include studies to be conducted in the U.S. that lead towards U.S. licensure. If the circumstances could allow more rapid development, such as placing a study in the Southern hemisphere during the influenza season in the North or simultaneous use of expert U.S. and Canadian sites (wherein the racial/ethnic composition closely mimics the U.S.), would clinical studies conducted outside the U.S. be considered acceptable for the purpose of this RFP if they:

a.   Are conducted under IND or are conducted in conformance with the requirements of 21 CFR 312.120 and the FDA Guidance Document “Acceptance of Foreign Clinical Studies” and 

b.   Provide support toward eventual U.S. licensure? 

Ans.  Yes. See answer to question #4. 

16.  There is a 3-5 year objective to complete Phase III. Is there an expectation of a certain state of readiness for BLA submission by the end of the contract period?

Ans.  Yes. See answer to question #9.

17.  Is the target capacity for the commercial facility expected to be 150 million doses (milestone 4, p. 7) or 300 million doses (milestone 4, p. 11)? This makes a large difference in projecting costs, so clarification is needed.

       
Ans.  For this RFP, the surge capacity minimum threshold amount for the US vaccine manufacturing facility is 150 million doses of monovalent pandemic influenza vaccine per year.  See Amendment 002 for clarifications to B.4 and F.3.
18.  What is the detail required for the cost of subcontractors? Are letters of commitment appropriate at this stage or can the detailed costing structure - for example the CMO - be provided at a later stage.


Ans.  The estimated costs for all subcontractors proposed under this solicitation must include the same level of detail as outlined in Section J. at the time of proposal submission.

19.  Should the proposal include the actual delivery of vaccine to the Government?


Ans.  No
20.  The BSL-2 requirement on page 6 - does this apply to the production of a recombinant Hemagglutinin?  This appears to be overkill since we (and presumably others) do not work with live viruses.


Ans.  Bio Safety Level (BSL) containment levels should be commensurate with prescribed CDC, USDA, or WHO biosafety guidelines for influenza vaccine manufacturing and handling of live virus samples.  

21.  In Section B.1, reference is made to “This project is issued in parallel with two other projects – influenza vaccine manufacturing process improvements and antigen-sparing vaccines using adjuvants or novel delivery methods or administration routes”.  Where are these projects identified and how are they applied for?


Ans. These other two RFPs have not been issued.  Whey they are available, they will be posted on FedBizOps also as RFP ORDC 05-07 and RFP ORDC 05-08.
22.  Manufacturing capacity – number of doses.  In “Background” in is mentioned that 600 million doses may be needed assuming each person might need two doses of 15µg each.  However, Milestone III mentions a commitment to establish manufacturing capacity for at least 150 million doses of 15µg.  Is there any relationship between the 600 million and the 150 million doses?  The section seems to imply that the requirement is that the 150 million doses could be manufactured over the course of a year, but we would like this to be confirmed.  Should offerors also indicate whether they can achieve the capacity for up to 600 million doses? 


Ans.  One of the goals of the RFP is to broaden the influenza vaccine manufacturing base. Thus manufacturers that can produce at least 150 million doses of monovalent pandemic vaccine in a year will meet the minimum threshold. Offerors should provide evidence of their pandemic influenza vaccine surge capacity in one year based upon a 15 μg HA dose as an assumption. Also see answer to question #17.

23.  What will determine the length of the contract that is stated to be 36 to 60 months?


Ans.  The contract term will depend largely upon the stage of development the proposed product is in at time of award.
24.  Can you be more specific about what types of items might be appropriate for Milestone VI – contractor defined milestones?


Ans.  These activities will be parts of the product development master plan for the cell- or recombinant-based influenza vaccine product that the Offeror wishes to seek USG funding. These milestones may include but are not limited to clinical manufacturing, scale-up development, validation, clinical trials, facility design, and BLA licensure application costs. 

25.  In the chart showing the number of copies, it says under “business proposal” that “Six (5) bound copies are required.  Please confirm that five bound copies are required – consistent with other references.


Ans.  Yes, this is correct.  Five bound copies are required.  See Amendment 0002
26.  The technical proposal is stated to be not more than 40 pages.  However, at the end of the instructions, it is stated the proposal “…(excluding the section entitled past performance), should not exceed 25 single-spaced pages…excluding appendices and resumes of key personnel”.  Are we reading it correctly that 15 of the 40 pages are reserved for past performance information?

Ans.  40 pages is the limitation for technical proposals.  Please see Amendment 0002.  
27.  Does the definition of “Recombinant DNA Based Influenza” include vaccines based on DNA as the active drug substance? 



Ans.  Yes, plasmid DNA-derived influenza vaccines may be considered.

28.  With reference to the Statement of Work, what precisely is required as a deliverable against milestones 1 and 2? Is milestone 2 effectively a sub-set of milestone 1?




Ans.  Yes, see answer to question #14.

29.   This RFP envisions both a provision of vaccines for a potential pandemic and annual interpandemic vaccines. How does the DHSS envision purchasing vaccines in these two scenarios?


Ans.  Yes, plasmid DNA-derived influenza vaccines may be considered. The scope of this vaccine does not include the purchase of influenza vaccines. Rather this RFP provides funding for the advanced development and licensure of candidate cell- or recombinant-based influenza vaccines. Proposals should provide detailed product development plans for interpandemic and pandemic influenza vaccines.

30.  Does the DHSS envision annual interpandemic vaccine from this facility being sold on the free market or by means of state contracts?


Ans.  Interpandemic influenza vaccine derived by cell or recombinant sources may be sold commercially as licensed product in countries providing licensure. Contracts to purchase interpandemic influenza vaccine will depend on existing federal and state public health policies applicable for a given influenza season. Also see the answer to question #29.
31.  Will the US-based manufacturing site be allowed to sell excess production (annual or pandemic) outside of the United States?



Ans. Yes.

32.  Does the DHSS envision any degree of annual stockpiling of putative pandemic vaccine?



    
Ans.  It is possible.

33.  Does the DHHS have any requirements for storage of the product e.g. shelf life, temperature, packaging etc?



Ans.  Storage and stability of candidate influenza vaccines should be comparable or exceed licensed influenza vaccine, as applicable.
34.  Does the DHHS have any special requirements for product information leaflets or labeling or the product?


Ans. Product labeling should conform to FDA guidelines and FDA acceptance for clinical evaluation and licensed products. 
35.  It is generally accepted that a pandemic influenza vaccine may require more than one administration (prime and boost or prime, boost, boost). Can you confirm that your definition of a 150 million dose surge capacity reflects the number of administered doses and not the population coverage i.e. 150 million doses = 75 million subjects given prime + boost administrations?


 
Ans.  Yes, 2 doses per person.
36.  It is generally accepted that a pandemic vaccine may require an adjuvant to achieve significant immunogenicity. Can you confirm that a cell or recombinant based vaccine containing an adjuvant will be eligible for this RFP?



Ans.  No.  See RFP 05-08, Antigen Sparing when posted.
37.  The RFP states a surge capacity between 150 million to 300 million doses. Do you have a preference for a larger or smaller surge capacity?



Ans.  A minimum threshold surge capacity of 150 million doses of monovalent pandemic influenza vaccine per year must be met for consideration.  See Amend. 0002
38.  Will the DHSS place any weight on the speed to achieve the required manufacture output (i.e. time from strain identification to first vaccine available) in addition to the peak capacity?


Ans  Yes, this consideration is evaluated as part of the Methodology technical evaluation component.
39.  The RFP states that annual interpandemic production volumes may be lower than 150 million doses. Does the DHHS have a preferred level or a minimum level for interpandemic production?



Ans.  No.

40.  Can you please confirm that all stages of vaccine manufacture, including primary biological manufacture and final fill and finish, should be located in the United States?



Ans.  Yes, for licensed product.
41.  Can any materials or components used in manufacture be sourced outside of the United States?



Ans.  Yes, See Answer to Question #5

42.  In response to this RFP, the company would commit to the establishment of a US based manufacturing facility for influenza. Currently the company’s preclinical and clinical manufacturing capability is based outside the US. It is envisaged that this capability would support early clinical development, with the US manufacturing facility being used for later clinical development and commercialization. Would this approach be deemed responsive to this RFP?



Ans.  Yes.
43.  The RFP states that vaccine production will be required to be in a cGMP-compliant manufacturing facility with proper biosafety containment (BSL-2+). Can you please confirm that the BSL-2+ requirement will apply only to those parts of the manufacturing process where live or otherwise potentially dangerous viral materials are involved?


Ans.  Yes.  Virus seed production, upstream processing, downstream processing, and QC test labs may require BSL-2+ or – 3 containment depending on the virus strain and reassortant characteristics. 
44.  It is generally accepted that antigen sparing can be achieved using novel delivery technologies and/or adjuvantation. Can you confirm that a cell or recombinant based vaccine using novel delivery technologies and/or adjuvants will be eligible for this RFP?



Ans.  Such a proposal would be better suited for RFP 05-08 Antigen Sparing, when posted. 
45.  Is it expected that the Offeror consults in detail on the development plan with the FDA prior to response to the RFP or should that occur subsequently?



Ans.  Preferably before the proposal is submitted, the Offeror will consult with the FDA. 
46.  Will the DHSS facilitate and/or attend future interactions with FDA?


Ans.  HHS agencies do not intercede on behalf of Contractors with the FDA but may attend Contractor’s meetings with the FDA provided the Contractor and FDA agree to such arrangements. 

47.  When the RFP refers to “registered product”, is this intended to be an annual or pandemic product?



Ans.  Both may be registered products.

48  If a Compliance Matrix is provided for each Volume is it excluded from the page count for that volume?


Ans.  No.  In accordance with the RFP Cover Page and Section J,  this would be included in the volume count.

49.  Will costs that the Contractor will have the right to recover under the Cancellation Charge provisions be in addition to the funds allotted under the Limitation of Funds Clause?


Ans.  No.  Any cancellation costs negotiated under a resultant contract from the solicitation would NOT be in addition to the funds allotted under the Limitation of Funds Clause.

50.  For the purchase of any special product-related equipment that the Government funds (as a direct cost), the Government gets title to the equipment.  Will that equipment be made available to the contractor on a rent-free basis for the purpose of manufacturing product for commercial sale?


Ans.  No.  At this time DHHS envisions that any GFP/GFE utilized under this contract as a direct charge to the Government would be returned by the contractor to DHHS upon completion and expiration of the contract.

51. Will the Government guarantee the purchase of any specific quantity of vaccine on an annual basis so as to provide less risk to the Contractor in maintaining warm-based manufacturing capabilities?


Ans.   Vaccine purchase is not within the scope of this RFP. See answer to question #29.

52.  Can a proposal be submitted for both a cell and recombinant-based approach either separately or combined?

Ans.  The Offeror’s proposal should present the Offeror’s best vaccine candidate technology for competitive consideration.

53.  U.S. Vaccine Manufacturing – This criteria states that “Written evidence of a firm commitment by the Offeror that the Offeror will initiate the establishment of the necessary facilities in the U.S. or its territories for the manufacturing of bulk and final container influenza vaccine products for human usage during the term of the contract must be provided in the proposal.”  Please suggest what would be the appropriate content of the written statement required to meet this criteria.


Ans.  Offeror should provide a firm written commitment for a US based vaccine manufacturing facility. This commitment should include the location, feasibility, partners, facility description, and strategic business plan for construction and product licensure including milestones and timelines.

54. Are we to assume that a successful offeror could receive an award in an amount similar to that awarded for the 2004 CDC solicitation ($97M for 2004-N-01102)?


Ans.  See Answer to #11
55.  Our assumption is that funding will be allocated on a milestone-driven basis, with funding allocated initially for the first milestone and funds for subsequent milestones only approved once milestones are met.  Please explain how we would handle unforeseen delays (e.g. FDA reviews) and expenditures.



Ans.  Risk management plan should be provided to mitigate unforeseen actions or consequences.

56.
Please define the scope of what would be defined as “product related equipment”.  



Ans. See answer to question #2.
57.  The RFP states that that the following costs can be supported under this RFP – “validation of equipment, systems, facilities, product release assays, and manufacturing processes for U.S.-based influenza vaccine manufacturing facilities that manufacture bulk and final container cell- or recombinant vaccine products.”  Please explain what types of costs would be supported under validation of facilities, systems and manufacturing processes.  Please also provide guidance on the format of costing documentation required for validation of such issues.



Ans.  See answer to question #3. Costing should be similar to other services provided in the proposal and include direct labor with salary and percent effort, fringe benefits, overhead, materials and supplies, other direct costs, G&A, and fee. 
58.  U.S. Vaccine Manufacturing - This criteria states that "Written evidence of a firm commitment by the Offeror that the Offeror will initiate the establishment of the necessary facilities in the U.S. or its territories for the manufacturing of bulk and final container influenza vaccine products for human usage during the term of the contract must be provided in the proposal."  Please suggest what would be the minimum appropriate content of the written statement required to meet this criteria.


Ans.  See answer to question #53.
59.   Can you confirm that as stated on page 53 that “the Offeror must submit within six months of the contract award an IND, if not filed already”. On page six it states that within 6 months of contract award, the Contractor shall submit for review and approval a comprehensive product development protocol and initiate vaccine development , vaccine manufacturing, pre-clinical studies or clinical studies as appropriate based on the current stage of development… The inclusion of pre-clinical testing and vaccine manufacturing implies that work leading to an IND has to be initiated but that the IND does not necessarily have to have been filed.

Ans.  The last sentence of this question makes an incorrect assumption.  Filing of the IND by no later than 6 months after contract awarded is intended.  See Amend. 0002 for clarification of M.1.

60.  I do not find the electronic spreadsheet for costing, as stated in the above referenced RFP, on page 37, item # 5, “It is requested that you use the ELECTRONIC SPREADSHEET that is provided below……It is in Excel Forma………”  Can you direct me to the Excel spreadsheet?


Ans.  Offerors may use the template shown in PDF version on page 38 of the RFP or may use an Excel spreadsheet with similar columns and rows.  See Amend 0002.
61.  In the RFP, the Significance and Objectives section on page 6 states “Portions of the vaccine product development plan may be conducted outside of the U.S. except clinical trials, which will be used to support a BLA product submission. “  Since the FDA allows data generated overseas to be admissible for U.S. product approval if in compliance with GCP regulations, please clarify why clinical trials held outside the U.S. would not contribute to a BLA product submission.  Please also confirm that non-U.S. trials may be budgeted in an application in response to this RFP.



Ans.  This answer is being further researched and will be provided via a subsequent amendment. 
62.   In the RFP, under Statement of Work, Milestone 1 on page 6, it is stated that “Within 

six(6) months of contract award, the Contractor shall provide to the USG a master product development plan for a seasonal trivalent influenza vaccine and a pandemic monovalent influenza vaccine produced in tissue culture cells, recombinant expression systems, or synthesized as influenza viruses, recombinant proteins, or recombinant DNA at a cGMP-compliant manufacturing facility with proper biosafety containment (BSL-2+), using intellectual property to which the company has unencumbered access relative to cell culture or recombinant technology.”

However, under Statement of Work, Milestone 3 on page 7, it is stated that “The Contractor’s

 ability to meet WHO biosafety guidelines for avian influenza vaccine manufacturing (Biosafety 

Level (BSL) 2+ or greater) may be necessary for handling and testing highly pathogenic avian 

influenza viruses, if these viruses are used to generate pandemic influenza vaccines.”

As there is a significant difference in building a BL-2+ facility vs. a facility operating at greater

than BL-2+, please clarify what type of bio-containment level is required. 


Ans.  This answer is being further researched and will be provided via a subsequent amendment.   In the meantime, see answers to Questions 20 and 43.
63.  Section B.2 of the RFP appears to imply that Offerors are to include information 

regarding “Estimated Cost and Fixed Fee – Incrementally Funded Contract” in their application.  However, there are no instructions explicitly stating as such.  Please clarify whether or not Offeror’s must include such a section in their application and if so, where it should appear.


Ans.  It is not necessary for the Offeror to complete paragraphs B.2 and B.3 at the time of proposal submission.  DHHS will provide additional information regarding these paragraphs during negotiation.
64.  Section B.4 of the RFP appears to imply that Offerors are to include a table in their 

application addressing Contract Line Item Numbers (CLINS).  However, there are no 

instructions explicitly stating as such.  Please clarify whether or not Offeror’s must include such

a section in their application and if so, where it should appear.


Ans.  It is not necessary for the Offeror to complete the table under paragraph B.4 at the time of proposal submission.  During negotiation, DHHS will provide additional information regarding completion of the table of CLINS.
65.  Section B.4 of the RFP addresses Contract Line Item Numbers (CLINS). In this table

there are CLINS corresponding to each milestone (1-6), as well as an additional 2 CLINS regarding Technical and Final Reports respectively (7, 8).  Are Offerors to interpret this information as instruction to separately budget costs associated with preparation of such reports?  If so, this would translate into requirements for 8 independent budgets - a budget for each milestone (1-6) as well as 2 additional budgets for Technical and Final Reports.  Please confirm. 


Ans.  Yes, a separate breakdown of costs for each milestone as indicated on paragraph B.4 of the RFP and in Section J. Page 38 of the RFP is required under this solicitation.
66.  Page 1 of the RFP estimates that an award may be made on or about October  2005 which indicates that HHS is attempting to compress the timeframe for review of this solicitation.  It is assumed that part of the review process will include an audit of any Offeror deemed to be in the competitive range.  Please estimate the relative timeframe in which an audit might occur, so that audit support resources can be made available when required to avoid any delays.  Also please confirm that if audited, Offerors will be given time to (1) comment on the audit report as part of the record and (2) remediate any issue the auditor may identify as requiring remediation prior to being considered for an award.


Ans.  Based on the current acquisition milestones identified for the RFP, it is anticipated (for those offerors determined to be in the competitive range) that a pre-award cost audit will be conducted during the late July – early August 2005 timeframe.  DHHS will use the audit to identify weaknesses and deficiencies in the offeror’s proposal.  DHHS anticipates providing the offeror an opportunity to respond to weaknesses and deficiencies.    
67. Does Puerto Rico qualify as “U.S. Based manufacturing?”


Ans. Definition of United States is a follows:  All 50 states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico.  See Amendment 0002.
68. Please define a “subcontractor.”  Is a subcontractor any group that performs work under the RFP or is a subcontractor defined as an entity that performs activity specific to the manufacturing of product?


Ans. Subcontractor as used means any supplier, distributor, vendor, or firm that furnishes supplies or services to or for a prime contractor or another subcontractor (FAR 44.101).  

